# DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



23-CF-937

Clerk of the Court Received 06/01/2024 01:19 AM

NWABUEZE IGWE,

Appellant

v.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee

Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia – Criminal Division 2023 CF3 896

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Adrian E. Madsen, Esq. Bar No. 1032987 8705 Colesville Road, Suite 334 Silver Spring, MD 20910 Tel: (202) 738-2051 Fax: (202) 688-7260 madsen.adrian.eric@gmail.com

#### **D.C. App. R. 28(a)(2)(A) Statement**

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- Whether the trial court erred by permitting over objection Metro Transit Police Department ("MTPD") Officer Sariah Balhis to testify about events of which Officer Balhis had no personal knowledge, events depicted in video surveillance footage from Metro stations and still images taken from the same video footage.
- Whether the trial court erred by permitting Officer Balhis, testifying as a lay witness, to identify Mr. Igwe and complainant Aldair Moran as people depicted in video footage and still images without the foundation required by *Sanders v*. *United States*, 809 A.2d 584 (D.C. 2002).
- 3. Whether the trial court erred by admitting over objection "statement[s] of nonidentification"<sup>1</sup>—statements of the complainant to an officer that several people were *not* his alleged assailant.
- 4. Whether the trial court plainly erred by failing to order stricken comments by the prosecutor in closing and rebuttal arguments which "attempt[ed] to appeal to the jurors' sympathies," including that the complainant's "sense of security was taken," that the complainant "doesn't feel as safe anymore," that the jury should thus "find justice for" the complainant, that "[w]hat happened to [the complainant] is wrong," that the complainant "did not deserve to have to look

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Randolph v. United States, 882 A.2d 210, 220 (D.C. 2005).

down a knife just because he was trying to get home that day," and that the complainant's assailant "took his dignity away."

- 5. Whether the trial court plainly erred by failing to order stricken the prosecutor's comments in closing and rebuttal arguments that usurped the role of the jury and misstated the government's burden of proof, including that "in order for [the jury] to even arrive at that conclusion that [trial counsel] just offered, you would necessarily have to engage in the exact type of speculation and guesswork that [the trial court] instructed you in his jury instructions you're not allowed to engage in," that "reasonable doubt is not just some term that you can haphazardly throw around in order to excuse robbing somebody on the Metro at knifepoint," and "[i]t's not reasonable doubt if the [shoes] are three-colored or multicolored or none of that. It's strictly about the elements of the offenses."
- Whether Mr. Igwe's convictions for armed robbery and assault with a dangerous weapon merge "where both offenses [we]re committed against the same victim as part of the same criminal incident." *Morris v. United States*, 622 A.2d 1116, 1129 (D.C. 1993).

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Mr. Igwe was charged by indictment one count of robbery while armed (knife) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2801, -4502, one count of assault with a dangerous weapon (knife) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-402, and one count of carrying a dangerous weapon in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(1), all alleged to have occurred on or about February 13, 2023.

On June 5, 2023, with Mr. Igwe still preventively detained pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-1322(b)(1)(A) and with neither party having filed any substantive motions, the parties appeared for trial. Following three day trial, the jury found Mr. Igwe guilty on all counts. The court sentenced Mr. Igwe to an aggregate 48 months' incarceration. This timely appeal followed.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 13, 2023, officers arrested Mr. Igwe on suspicion of robbery (knife) based on the alleged theft of a backpack aboard a Metro train at the Gallery Place station. App'x. 6 (Docket Entries p.3).<sup>2</sup> Mr. Igwe was arrested approximately two hours after the robbery following complainant Aldair Moran's earlier identification of another man as his assailant, later disavowed.

Following preventive detention pursuant to D.C. Code § 23-1322(b)(1)(A),<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "App'x" refers to Mr. Igwe's limited appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 2/14 Tr. "Tr." refers to transcript by the date of proceeding, all in 2023.

being found competent after a preliminary competency screening,<sup>4</sup> and a series of continuances, the matter was set for trial. 3/13 Tr. After Mr. Igwe at least twice requested the appointment of new counsel,<sup>5</sup> the court appointed Damon Catacalos, Esq. to replace Mr. Igwe's prior counsel, Craig Ricard, Esq. The United States did not extend a plea offer at any time, reportedly because Mr. Igwe declined to toll the 100-day clock to bring him to trial. 3/13 Tr. 2-3. Aside from a motion for a protective order governing certain discoverable materials,<sup>6</sup> neither party filed pretrial motions.

On May 24, 2023, a grand jury returned an indictment charging Mr. Igwe with one count of robbery while armed (knife) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-2801, -4502, one count of assault with a dangerous weapon (knife) in violation of D.C. Code § 22-402, and one count of carrying a dangerous weapon in violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a)(1), all alleged to have occurred on or about February 13, 2023. App'x 31.

## **Officer Millard Shum**

On June 5, 2023, the parties appeared for trial. Following jury selection and opening statements, the government first called MTPD Crime Scene Officer Millard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 2/23 Tr. Mr. Igwe's counsel requested the examination on February 17, 2023. 2/17 Tr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2/23 Tr. 3; 3/6 Tr. 4-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> R. 50 (PDF). Consistent with recent amendments to D.C. App. R. 28(e), "R. [page number] (PDF)" refers to the record, followed, where appropriate by "the page of the original document."

Shum, through whom it introduced several photographs of a knife and property taken from Mr. Igwe on February 13, 2023, including a "clear trash liner" and a backpack, and photographs of Mr. Igwe himself, also taken on February 13, 2023. 6/5 Tr. 196-207. All were admitted without objection, and Mr. Igwe did not cross-examine Officer Shum. 6/5 Tr. 196-207.

#### Aldair Moran

The government next called complainant Aldair Moran. Mr. Moran testified that on February 13, 2023, after leaving work for the day, he got on a Green Line train at the Navy Yard Metro station shortly after 9:00 pm. When Mr. Moran got on the train, a "guy" was "hollering" and "shouting," "telling the people who get on the train to 'go that way,' [and] 'go sit on the opposite side.'" Although Mr. Moran believed he "wasn't close to the guy" who was "hollering," the man "approache[d] and t[old]" Mr. Moran to "change [his] seat," so Mr. Moran did. In court, Mr. Moran described "the guy" as "tall," "wearing dark clothing," "ha[ving] a few bags with him," and "ha[ving] a hat."

After Mr. Moran changed seats, the man "didn't say anything else to" Mr. Moran. 6/5 Tr. 213-14 (24-3). Once the train "stopped at Gallery" Place, Mr. Moran "suddenly felt... somebody snatch[]" his "book bag," which had been "on the [] right next to" him.<sup>7</sup> When Mr. Moran then "g[o]t up" and "turned around," he "s[aw] [his] book bag in his hand." When Mr. Moran "moved forward trying to get [his] bag from him... [h]e... pull[ed] out a knife and t[old]" Mr. Moran "to back up," so Mr. Moran did so. Mr. Moran "looked at [the knife] for a few seconds" and "saw silver on the blade"—"a silver blade." 6/5 Tr. 216-17 (23-4). The man held the knife, as described by the United States, with "his right hand in a fist" and "on his side." When Mr. Moran saw the knife, the Metro train doors were opening at the Gallery Place/Chinatown station.

After the man with Mr. Moran's bag, which contained his "work uniform" and "glasses case," got off the train, Mr. Moran did the same and "look[ed] around for somebody that c[ould] help [him]." When Mr. Moran saw "two police officers at the escalator," he thought, "'I need to go call them,"<sup>8</sup> before "running up the escalator calling for help." 6/5 Tr. 225 (21-24).<sup>9</sup> Mr. Moran estimated that one to two minutes passed between someone taking his bag and when he saw officers. 6/6 Tr. 7 (20-23). Without objection, Mr. Moran identified Mr. Igwe in court "as the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> When later asked to be more specific about where his bag was located when he was sitting on the train, Mr. Moran testified that he "was sitting at the window seat" and he "had [his] bag on the passenger seat to the left side of [him] just right there open." 6/5 Tr. 216 (1-5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 6/5 Tr. 220 (1-3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The following day, Mr. Moran characterized this as "walking up the escalator." 6/6 Tr. 7 (10-11).

person who took [his] bag."<sup>10</sup> 6/5 Tr. 223 (1-14). The last time Mr. Moran saw the man who took his bag before speaking with officers was when the man got off the train. 6/6 Tr. 8 (13-15).

Mr. Moran then escorted two officers, a man and a woman, to the train platform<sup>11</sup> where he had last seen the man, but the man was gone. 6/6 Tr. 8 (16-20). After Mr. Moran described the man who took his bag to the police, the officers looked around the station, several times asking Mr. Moran whether a person the officers "pointed to" was the man who took his bag. 6/6 Tr. 9-11. Officers then stopped a man who Mr. Moran "suspected... stole [his] stuff on the train." 6/6 Tr. 12 (10-14). When asked why he later concluded that the man was not the man who had taken his bag, Mr. Moran testified that it "couldn't be the guy that stole [his] book bag" because the man "didn't have [his] stuff' and "the guy who stole [Mr. Moran's] stuff had multiple belongings" and the man stopped "only had one belonging, so that wasn't him." 6/6 Tr. 12 (18-25). Mr. Moran testified that it was "minutes" before he concluded that the man officers stopped was not the man who

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  Mr. Igwe expects that several issues related to identification, including but not limited to the failure to move suppress an out-of-court identification, will be raised in a D.C. Code § 23-110 motion in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> While Mr. Moran did not specify the level of the Metro station on which he first spoke to officers, his testimony makes clear that was at least one floor above the train platform, where Mr. Moran testified that he went "up the escalator" to speak with the officers and that he "took [the officers] down to the bottom floor." 6/6 Tr. 8 (8-9).

had taken his bag and that he "felt really bad" when he came to that conclusion. 6/6 Tr. 13. After officers let that man, later referred to throughout the trial as Mr. Madul, go, officers Mr. Moran went home. 6/6 Tr. 14 (7-12).

About ten minutes after getting home, Mr. Moran received a phone call from a detective who told Mr. Moran, "we found the individual that matches your description." 6/6 Tr. 14 (13-22). An officer drove Mr. Moran to the Gallery Place Metro station where "they ha[d] a man lined up on the wall." 6/6 Tr. 15. After the officer "put the flashlight on him," Mr. Moran "didn't have any doubts about that, 100 percent, that was the guy who took [his] bag." 6/6 Tr. 15 (22-25). Over objection, Mr. Moran testified that he did not "see anything else" when he identified Mr. Igwe as the man who took his bag. 6/6 Tr. 17-19. Mr. Moran testified that "a few minutes" later, officers showed him a bag, which was his. 6/6 Tr. 16.

On cross-examination, Mr. Moran testified that he "c[ouldn't] remember" whether he told police his "assailant" was wearing a ski mask,<sup>12</sup> before later agreeing that "the description" he "gave to... officers" at the top of the escalator "was that [his] assailant was wearing black clothes and a black ski mask. 6/6 Tr. 31-32 (23-5). Mr. Moran acknowledged that he did not provide any description of the man's facial features, complexion, facial hair, or lack thereof, or any specific description of height, indicating that he had used a "hand signal" to estimate height.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 6/6 Tr. 22 (14-20).

Mr. Moran also acknowledged that when he saw "a tall African-American man in dark clothes with a hoodie over his head," a man referred to as Mr. Madul, he told police "that's him,"; i.e., the man who took Mr. Moran's bag. 6/6 Tr. 34. Mr. Moran was within "about four feet" of Mr. Madul and "had plenty of time to look at [Mr. Madul] as he was being questioned by... Officer Balhis." 6/6 Tr. 36. "[R]ight after" Mr. Moran told officers Mr. Madul was not his assailant, officers let Mr. Madul go. 6/6 Tr. 37-38.

When asked about the phone call he received from a detective after returning home on the evening of February 13, Mr. Moran agreed that the detective "was insistent that [he] go and see the person that matched [his] description." 6/6 Tr. 40 (10-13). When he identified Mr. Igwe as the person who took his bag, Mr. Moran indicated that Igwe was against a wall and the only person in handcuffs, that there were officers within "reaching distance" of Mr. Igwe, and that several officers were present. 6/6 Tr. 41-43.

On redirect examination, the government sought to impeach Mr. Moran with grand jury testimony regarding whether his assailant was wearing a beanie or a ski mask. 6/6 Tr. 46, 52-55. Although the trial court initially permitted such testimony over defense objection,<sup>13</sup> it later order the jury to disregard the testimony regarding the grand jury proceedings, concluding that Mr. Moran was never actually

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 6/6 Tr. 47-51.

confronted with an answer he gave in the grand jury which would have ostensibly impeached his trial testimony.<sup>14</sup> 6/6 Tr. 219-221. Although the use of pronouns make this less than clear, it appears that Mr. Moran also testified that the distance between Mr. Moran and Mr. Madul exceeded the distance between Mr. Moran and Mr. Igwe when Mr. Moran man an identification of each. 6/6 Tr. 56. Mr. Moran also testified that Mr. Moran and Mr. Igwe when Mr. Moran man an identification of each. 6/6 Tr. 56. Mr. Moran also testified that Mr. Moran also testified that Mr. Igwe was wearing a beanie when Mr. Moran identified him and that Mr. Moran was "100 percent sure" that Mr. Igwe was the man who robbed him.

#### **Officer Sariah Balhis**

The government next called MTPD Officer Sariah Balhis. 6/6 Tr. 69-70. Officer Balhis testified that on February 13, 2023, while at the Gallery Place Metro station, a man approached her and MTPD Officer Mansur Deen on the "Red Line mezzanine" and reported being robbed on a Metro train, describing the robber as "a tall black male wearing all black with a ski mask." 6/6 Tr. 70-71. In response, Officers Balhis and Deen "went downstairs to the lowest-level platform and canvassed for the person that robbed him." 6/6 Tr. 72 (1-3). Not finding "the person who robbed [Mr. Moran] on the platform," the officers "went to where [Mr. Moran] stated he... and the person that robbed him... exited the train." 6/6 Tr. 72 (6-10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The trial court earlier denied Mr. Igwe's request to recross-examine Mr. Moran about his interaction with prosecutors and police officers testifying in the grand jury. 6/6 Tr. 59-68.

The government then admitted without objection video from the Gallery Place Metro station. While admitted without objection, Mr. Igwe objected on hearsay grounds to Officer Balhis identifying Mr. Moran in the video. Mr. Igwe then elaborated, indicating that because one could not "make out any defining features of the individual," "see that individual's face," or "make out any details," and because Officer Balhis did not observe the events depicted in that portion of the video,<sup>15</sup> Officer Balhis must have known that information because someone else told her. 6/6 Tr. 76. Prompted to lay further "foundation," the government elicited that Officer Balhis saw Mr. Moran for "[m]aybe an hour and a half." 6/6 Tr. 77-78. The trial court then overruled Mr. Igwe's objection, permitting Officer Balhis to testify that she "knew" a person depicted in government exhibit 30 (the same video) was Mr. Moran "because of what he was wearing." 6/6 Tr. 79.

Mr. Igwe then objected when Officer Balhis began to testify that another man depicted in the video, depicting events Officer Balhis had not personally observed, was "the defendant." 6/6 Tr. 79 (17-24). At the bench, Mr. Igwe stated that "number one, there have been no foundational questions asked; number two, it is plain to see that the figure that she is going to be saying is the defendant, again, is not distinguishable in any reasonable way." Mr. Igwe made clear that he was "objecting any time this officer refers to the figure in that video as Mr. Igwe or defendant." 6/6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> "[S]he was not there present when this happened; she was upstairs." 6/6 Tr. 76.

Tr. 80-81 (24-2). The trial court then sustained Mr. Igwe's hearsay objection to Officer Balhis testifying that she went to "the end" of the Metro platform because Mr. Moran told Officer Balhis he and his assailant go off the train in that location, but denied Mr. Igwe's request "for an instruction to the jury regarding this officer's identification of both the defendant" before being cut off. 6/6 Tr. 82-86.

Officer Balhis continued testifying about events about which she had no personal knowledge, including "[s]omebody running into the train" with "property," which Officer Balhis described as a "black bag and a clear trash bag," and Mr. Moran "running, trying to find help or an officer." 6/6 Tr. 87-89. Officer Balhis then narrated video footage in which she "went to the end of the platform where [Mr. Moran] stated he last saw the person that robbed him and where him and the person that robbed him exited the train at," the same testimony to which the trial court previously sustained Mr. Igwe's hearsay objection. 6/6 Tr. 89-90.

Over Mr. Igwe's objection, the trial court then permitted Officer Balhis to testify that Mr. Moran said "no" when asked whether several people<sup>16</sup> on the platform were his assailant. 6/6 Tr. 90-91. Officers Balhis and Deen then went "up to the mezzanine" because Mr. Moran "sa[id] that he s[aw] the person who robbed him," a person referred to throughout the trial as Mr. Madul. 6/6 Tr. 92. Through

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> When asked how many times this happened, Officer Balhis answered "multiple times." 6/6 Tr. 91 (8-11).

Officer Balhis and without objection, the United States then admitted as government exhibit 16 a video depicting Officer Balhis and other officers detaining Mr. Madul, with Mr. Moran also visible. 6/6 Tr. 92-93. Officer Balhis testified that Mr. Moran was "wasn't, like, that confident," that Mr. Madul was his assailant because Mr. Moran said "that's not him" "between two to ten minutes" later. 6/6 Tr. 94. When Mr. Moran said "that's not him," officers "released" Mr. Madul. 6/6 Tr. 95.

When Officer Balhis then began describing what she did next, the trial court overruled Mr. Igwe's objection to Officer Balhis identifying the person in a "be-onthe-lookout poster" ("BOLO") as "the actual person who robbed Mr. Moran," an object lodged as a "challenge [to] her competency in answering this question." 6/6 Tr. 95-96. Officer Balhis testified that the image for the BOLO, government exhibit 32, was taken from footage recorded at the Mount Vernon Square Metro station. After Mr. Igwe renewed his earlier objection to Officer Balhis identifying Mr. Igwe as the person depicted in footage from the Gallery Place station (government exhibit 16), during a lengthy bench conference, the trial court overruled the objection on the understanding that the United States, in the trial court's view, would "lay the foundation" to permit Officer Balhis to identify Mr. Igwe in videos and photographs to which Officer Balhis was not a percipient witness. The trial court appeared to view this foundation as "interacting directly with [Mr. Igwe] that evening and s[eeing] him, s[eeing] what he was wearing, s[eeing] what he was carrying, and...

explain[ing] why she believes that" the person depicted in the video and photographs is Mr. Igwe, and declined Mr. Igwe's request for an instruction "to not consider this officer's identification of the images in the video and the BOLO as the defendant, at least up to this point in the trial, and... to disregard that testimony that [Officer Balhis] ha[d] given up to th[at] point." 6/6 Tr. 101-03.

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