**BRIEF FOR APPELLEE** 

### DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23-CF-937

NWABUEZE IGWE,

v.

# UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

MATTHEW M. GRAVES United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB ELIZABETH H. DANELLO Omeed Assefi SABENA AUYEUNG

- \* Dylan M. Aluise D.C. Bar # 90018755 **Assistant United States Attorneys**
- \* Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Dylan.Aluise@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2023-CF3-896

Clerk of the Court Received 07/12/2024 11:28 AM Filed 07/12/2024 11:28 AM

Appellant,

Appellee.



APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION



#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

*First*, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by permitting Officer Balhis to identify Igwe and Moran in Metro surveillance footage and to describe their actions in that footage. Even if it were error to admit this testimony, the evidence did not substantially sway Igwe's conviction. The challenged testimony was largely duplicative of Moran's testimony and added little to the evidence against Igwe. Moreover, the evidence overwhelmingly established Igwe's identity as the armed robber. The direct evidence against Igwe included both a show-up identification of Igwe as the armed robber by Moran that was made with complete certainty and an in-court identification of Igwe by Moran. The circumstantial evidence was just as powerful: Igwe was stopped less than 90 minutes after the robbery inexplicably still holding Moran's stolen property as well as a knife matching the description of the robbery weapon. And surveillance footage capturing the assailant leaving the

scene of the robbery allowed the jury to draw its own conclusion about whether that individual, who wore clothes and carried bags matching those worn and carried by Igwe at the time of his arrest, was Igwe.

Second, the trial court did not err by permitting Officer Balhis to testify that Moran informed her that other people on the platform shortly after the robbery were not the suspect. That testimony was not hearsay because it explained the course of MTPD's investigation. It was separately excepted from the rule against hearsay because it demonstrated the effect it had on Officer Balhis and why she continued her investigation. In any event, any error in admitting that testimony would be harmless because it was cumulative of Moran's testimony and immaterial compared to the overwhelming evidence of Igwe's guilt.

*Third*, the trial court did not plainly err by not sua sponte striking isolated remarks during the government's closing and rebuttal statements. Those remarks urged the jury to convict Igwe because the government met its burden to prove each element beyond a reasonable doubt and responded to defense arguments by arguing that they did not raise a reasonable doubt. Igwe fails to even show in the first instance that these comments, which focused on the evidence and how it satisfied the government's burden on the elements, were improper. Even if improper, Igwe also cannot establish that the trial court's failure to intervene was error, much less obvious error. Igwe also fails to meet his burden to show prejudice and an impact on the fairness, integrity, and public reputation of judicial proceedings. Any marginal prejudicial effect of the challenged statements pales in comparison to the significant evidence of Igwe's guilt and was appropriately addressed by the trial court's instructions to the jury on burdens of proof and the role of closing arguments.

*Fourth*, a limited remand is appropriate to dismiss Igwe's ADW conviction that merges with his conviction for armed robbery; but resentencing is not necessary because those sentences run concurrently.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. Any Error in the Admission of Officer Balhis's Testimony About the Surveillance Footage Was Harmless.

Igwe argues (Br. 29–38) that the trial court abused its discretion by permitting Officer Balhis to identify both Igwe and Moran in Metro surveillance footage and to describe their actions in that footage. The Court does not need to decide whether the government laid a proper foundation for the identifications and whether it was appropriate for the officer to narrate what was happening in the video. Even if the trial court erred in permitting the testimony, any error was harmless. Officer Balhis's testimony about the surveillance video was largely cumulative of Moran's testimony. Moreover, there was overwhelming evidence that Igwe was the armed robber, including Moran twice identifying Igwe as his assailant, Igwe's possession of Moran's property and a knife matching the robbery weapon just 90 minutes after the robbery, and surveillance footage capturing the assailant with clothing and bags matching Igwe's at the time of his arrest. The cumulative effect of that evidence overpowers the evidentiary errors that Igwe claims on appeal.

#### A. Additional Background.

Exhibit 30, a compilation of Metro surveillance footage authenticated and admitted into evidence through the parties' stipulation, depicts around two minutes of the Gallery Place Station platform surrounding the arrival and departure of the Metro train in which the robbery occurred (see Exh. 30). When shown Exhibit 30, Officer Balhis identified Moran as one of the two people exiting one of the train cars onto the platform (6/6/23 Tr. 72–73, 78–79; see Exh. 30 at 09:38:17– 09:38:24). Igwe objected to Officer Balhis's testimony as "hearsay,"

11

asserting that she must have "learned" that the individual in the footage was Moran "because she was not there present when this happened" (*id.* at 74–76). The trial court held the objection in abeyance to allow the government to establish that she was not relaying hearsay (*id.* at 77).

Officer Balhis then testified that Moran reported the robbery to her, an interaction that occurred seconds later after the train left the station (6/6/23 Tr. 77; see Exh. 30 at 09:38:49, 09:39:42), that she spent "an hour and a half" with Moran that evening (6/6/23 Tr. 77–78), and that she knew that the person in the footage was Moran because "of what he was wearing" (*id.* at 79). Igwe renewed his objection, and the trial overruled it (*id.*). Officer Balhis later testified without objection that Exhibit 30 also shows Moran running on the platform to find an officer (6/6/23 Tr. 88–89; Exh. 30 at 09:38:35–09:38:50).

Discussing that same compilation, Officer Balhis also identified Igwe as the other person leaving the same train car holding a large clear trash bag and other darker bags before jumping back on the train headed for Mount Vernon Square Station (6/6/23 Tr. 79, 82, 87–89; Exh. 30 at 09:38:17–09:38:35). Igwe objected to the foundation for Officer Balhis's testimony (6/6/23 Tr. 79–81, 82–86, 87, 95–96, 98–101). During a bench

12

conference to resolve Igwe's objection, the trial court asked Igwe's counsel whether it would be "sufficient" if the government "can lay the foundation that [Officer Balhis] interacted with [Igwe] directly that evening and saw him, saw what he was wearing, saw what he was carrying, and if she explains why she believes that is the defendant" (*id.* at 101–02). Igwe's counsel agreed that foundation would suffice (*id.* at 102).

The government elicited from Officer Balhis that she interacted with Igwe directly that evening incident to his arrest and observed what he was wearing and carrying (6/6/23 Tr. 103–04, 108–10, 135–38, 192; see Exh. 2). Officer Balhis also explained that she was identifying Igwe in the surveillance footage because the individual depicted in that footage was wearing the same "all black" clothing with a "Nike" symbol on his jacket and "multi-colored" shoes and possessed the same "clear trash bag" as Igwe when he was arrested less than 90 minutes later (*id.* at 104–14, 135–38, 188).

After that evidence, Igwe—with one exception<sup>4</sup>—did not object to the foundation of Officer Balhis's testimony identifying Igwe in other

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Igwe objected that the surveillance footage in Exhibit 41 did not depict enough of the individual exiting the train car at Mount Vernon Square (continued . . . )

surveillance footage exiting and re-entering the Metro train at Gallery Place Station (6/6/23 Tr. 106–07, 112–14, 124–25, 136–37, 184–85; Exhs. 1, 30, 37, 39), exiting a train at Mount Vernon Square Station and proceeding toward the station exit (6/6/23 Tr. 125–29, 137–38, 189–91; Exhs. 2, 38), and as the person in the BOLO poster derived from that footage (6/6/23 Tr. 107–10; Exh. 35).

In reviewing surveillance footage identical to what was contained in Exhibit 30, Moran identified himself as exiting a train at Gallery Place Station and then running on the platform (6/5/23 Tr. 220–23, 225–26; 6/6/23 Tr. 6–7; Exhs. 19, 20, 21). Moran also testified that he was looking around for help (6/5/23 Tr. 222). Asked at whom he was looking in the video (Exh. 19), Moran replied, "I see the defendant with my stuff," and identified Igwe in court (6/5/23 Tr. 222–23). Igwe did not object to Moran's testimony about the surveillance video or his identification of Igwe, nor does he challenge it on appeal.

Station for Officer Balhis to identify that person as Igwe (6/6/23 Tr. 185–88; Exh. 41). The trial court overruled that objection (6/6/23 Tr. 188).

# B. Standard of Review and Applicable Legal Principles.

In general, the admission of evidence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. (Wonell) Jones v. United States, 263 A.3d 445, 454 (D.C. 2021). In applying that standard of review, this Court first determines whether the trial court based its challenged discretionary ruling on correct legal principles and on a correct understanding of the nature of the evidence. Id. Second, even if it finds that the trial court erred in exercising its discretion, this Court "will not hold that the trial court 'abused its discretion' unless "the impact of that error requires reversal." Id. (quoting Johnson v. United States, 398 A.2d 354, 366 (D.C. 1979)). Nonconstitutional errors, such as those claimed here, are harmless and not grounds for reversal if the Court can "say with fair assurance" that the error did not "substantially sway the jury's verdict." Id. at 460 (citing Kotteakos v. United States, 328 U.S. 750, 765 (1946)).

Officer Balhis's testimony identifying Moran from the surveillance video should be reviewed for abuse of discretion because Igwe objected to that testimony (6/6/23 Tr. 74–76, 79). Igwe did not preserve his objection to the officer's testimony identifying Igwe, however. Although he initially objected that there was insufficient foundation for that identification (*id*. at 79–81, 82–86, 87, 95–96, 98–101), he later agreed that it would be "sufficient" if the government laid the appropriate foundation (*id.* at 102). And then, after the government elicited evidence showing the basis for the officer's identification, he (with one exception) did not object again (see *id.* at 106–10, 112–14, 124–29, 136–38, 189–91). If the Court agrees that Igwe failed to preserve his objection here, his challenge to the officer's identification of him from the video should be reviewed for plain error. *See Sanchez v. United States*, 919 A.2d 1148, 1151 (D.C. 2007) ("Initially, however, we must consider the government's argument that appellant 'invited' or at least acquiesced in the [challenged] ruling, and thus may not complain of it or may do so only under review for plain error.").<sup>5</sup> Ultimately, though, the standard of review does not matter,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Likewise, Igwe did not object to Officer Balhis's testimony that the surveillance footage depicted: (1) an individual holding a clear trash bag leaving and re-entering the train at Gallery Place Station (6/6/23 Tr. 87–88; Exh. 30); (2) Moran running on the platform to find an officer (6/6/23 Tr. 88–89; Exh. 30); or (3) Igwe walking through Mount Vernon Square Station carrying a clear trash bag (6/6/23 Tr. 125–29; Exh. 38). If the Court agrees that Igwe's objection to Officer Balhis's identifications of Moran and Igwe in the surveillance footage did not extend to her testimony describing their actions in that footage, that too would be reviewed for plain error. *See (Otis) Jones v. United States*, 813 A.2d 220, 226 (D.C. 2002) (noting that to preserve a claim for appeal, an objection (continued . . . )

because even under the abuse-of-discretion standard, Igwe is not entitled to reversal.

# C. Any Error in Admitting Officer Balhis's Testimony Identifying Igwe and Moran and Describing Their Actions Was Harmless.

It is not clear that the trial court erred in admitting Officer Balhis's testimony identifying Igwe and Moran in the surveillance video and describing their actions. Officer Balhis's identification of Moran in the surveillance footage of the Gallery Place Station platform had a reliable foundation based on the evidence that she interacted with him just seconds later, spent an hour-and-half with him that evening, and could identify him in the footage based on the clothes he was wearing (see 6/6/23 Tr. 77–79, 89; Exh. 30 at 09:38:49, 09:39:42). Officer Balhis was also familiar with Igwe's clothing, possessions, and appearance from the significant time she spent with him incident to his detention that evening (see 6/6/23 Tr. 103–04, 108–10, 135–38, 192; Exh. 2). Given Igwe's agreement on the sufficiency of the foundation for this type of

must identify the specific portion of the testimony and precise grounds for the objection) (citations omitted).

identification testimony (6/6/23 Tr. 101–02), it was hardly error for the trial court to permit Officer Balhis to identify Igwe in the footage based on her familiarity with his matching characteristics (see *id.* at 104–14, 135–38, 188).<sup>6</sup> And Officer Balhis's testimony contextualizing the surveillance footage by describing the action it captured and explaining its relevance to the investigation simply aided the jury's understanding of that evidence. *But see Callaham v. United States*, 268 A.3d 833, 848 (D.C. 2022).

This Court need not decide whether there was error, however. Even if the trial court did err in allowing the evidence, the error was harmless. Officer Balhis's testimony about the video added little to the government's case, and there was overwhelming evidence of guilt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See, e.g., United States v. Jackson, 688 F.2d 1121, 1123–26 (7th Cir. 1982) (upholding admission of civilian witness identification of defendant in a photograph when witness interacted with defendant "only one time" at a Christmas party because that was "sufficient" to support her lay opinion testimony and assist the jury); Robinson v. People, 927 P.2d 381, 384 & n.1 (Colo. 1996) (en banc) (holding that it was permissible for detective who had arrested the defendant on a prior occasion to identify the defendant in a surveillance photograph because even that level of familiarity made the detective "more likely to correctly identify [the defendant] from the photograph than was the jury"); but see Geter v. United States, 306 A.3d 126, 135–39 (D.C. 2023).

To start, the challenged testimony hardly could have affected the jury's consideration of the case. Igwe never disputed that someone robbed Moran with a knife. The only issue at trial was identification. Yet Officer Balhis's testimony about the video added little to the evidence of Igwe's identity as the assailant.

*First*, Officer Balhis's identification of Moran, the victim, in the surveillance footage had no bearing on who was the armed robber. And Igwe does not offer any specific argument on how that testimony prejudiced him (cf. Br. 45–48). Nor could he establish any such harm, as it entirely duplicated Moran's testimony identifying himself in identical surveillance footage (6/5/23 Tr. 219–26; 6/6/23 Tr. 6–7; Exhs. 19–21). *See United States v. Nelson*, 217 A.3d 717, 723 (D.C. 2019) (reasoning that an evidentiary error may be harmless "if the tainted evidence was cumulative or duplicative of other evidence presented to the jury") (cleaned up) (collecting cases).

Second, Officer Balhis's identification of Igwe in the surveillance footage supported only two facts. First, that Igwe exited the train onto the Gallery Place Station platform after the robbery and re-entered that train to leave the station. And second, that he was the individual depicted in the BOLO adapted from surveillance footage of Mount Vernon Square. But Moran identified Igwe without objection in identical footage of Gallery Place Station (6/5/23 Tr. 219–23; Exh. 19). That footage shows Igwe exit and then hop back on the train (Exh. 19 at counter 01:35– 01:37). This alleviates any prejudicial impact of that aspect of Officer Balhis's testimony. *See Nelson*, 217 A.3d at 723. And while Officer Balhis's identification of Igwe as the person depicted in the footage that was adapted into the BOLO helped explain why she stopped Igwe as a *suspect*, which he does not challenge, the force of that evidence relevant to identifying him as the *robber* is entirely overshadowed by Moran's direct identification of Igwe in both the show-up procedure and in court as the assailant (6/5/23 Tr. 223; 6/6/23 Tr. 15–16, 57, 131–32, 172).

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